1969

**Robert L. Velasquez, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem,  
Corinne F. Muniz v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, A Utah  
Corporation; Heinz Reinhold and State of Utah, Public  
Commission : Brief of Appellant**

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff will be referred to as such and Public Service Commission, State of Utah will be referred to as Defendant. All italics are added.

## NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff was severely injured when the vehicle in which he was asleep and riding as a passenger was struck by a Union Pacific Railroad Company train at a grade crossing in a residential area in Sandy, Utah on March 9, 1968.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff filed his Complaint for recovery of damages on May 21, 1969 naming Defendant in his ~~Third~~ <sup>Second</sup> Cause of Action. Plaintiff's Complaint against Defendant was amended by filing an Amendment to Second Cause of Action pursuant to Order of the Court on July 2, 1969.

Plaintiff's Complaint against Defendant is grounded in negligence and is brought pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act (63-30-1 et seq. U.C.A., 1953). Plaintiff's Complaint alleges violation of statutory duty imposed upon Defendant by the provisions of 54-4-14, U.C.A., 1953 and 54-4-15 (2), U.C.A., 1953.

Defendant filed Motion for Summary Judgment on August 4, 1969 and the lower Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant on September 19, 1969.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to have the Summary Judgment entered by the lower Court vacated and to have the case remanded to the lower Court for trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 1968 Plaintiff and two other boys were returning home after having been to a drive-in movie. On the way home they were to pick up the older brother of one of the boys who had been visiting with his girlfriend in Sandy. The vehicle was being driven by Manuel Ortega. Plaintiff fell asleep during the movie and was asleep from the time they left the drive-in until the time of the accident, which occurred at 400 North and 100 East in Sandy, Utah. The driver was not acquainted with this area and had never traveled up 400 North either as a driver or a passenger and had no knowledge that there were any railroad crossings in the vicinity and there were no advanced railroad warning signs as they approached the crossing (Deposition of Manuel Ortega, July 3, 1969 pp. 7-10).

The driver did not even know there was a railroad crossing in the area until just before his wheels went onto the tracks (Ortega Deposition p. 13).

The only safety device at the grade crossing in this residential area was a faded out "crossbuck" which was hard to see (Ortega Deposition, p. 14), a view of which is reproduced below in black and white (Ortega Deposition, Exhibit No. 6).



An average of Thirty-six (36) trains per week passed over this crossing during the year preceding March 9, 1968 (Union Pacific Railroad Company's Answers to Interrogatories, dated September 5, 1969, Answer 97).

After Defendant filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff filed an Affidavit in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. In Paragraph 2 of that Affidavit, Plaintiff stated that he would "introduce evidence intending to show and prove that Defendant State of Utah Public Service Commission was negligent in the following particulars" which are paraphrased as follows:

(a) That Defendant had no requirements for the periodic painting or maintenance of crossbucks.

(b) That there were no advanced warning signs approaching the crossing.

(c) That Defendant negligently failed to prescribe regulations to keep crossings free and clear of weeds, bushes, trees and other obstructions.

(d) That Defendant was, in fact, aware of the deteriorated condition of the single sign at the grade crossing in question and had negligently failed to take appropriate steps to insure its replacement or repair.

(e) That the volume of trains passing over the crossing weekly and the large volume of motor vehicle traffic through the crossing required the installation of automatic safety devices in order to protect the traveling public and it was negligent for the Public Service Commission to fail to require the installation of automatic signaling devices and that these acts of negligence were the proximate cause of the accident resulting in Plaintiff's injuries and that the Defendant had breached its duty toward Plaintiff.

That this Affidavit was available to the Court at the time the Court considered Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

At the time of hearing on the Motion, Defendant introduced, without objection from Plaintiff, a copy of Association of American Railroads, Bulletin No. 6, "Railroad-Highway Grade Crossing Protection, Recommended Practices" and a copy of a resolution indicating that this pamphlet had been adopted by Defendant. This pamphlet merely describes the dimensions, colors and placement of signal devices with respect to distances from the road and tracks and in no way, prescribes recommendations or regulations for evaluation as to what

type of warning device, if any, should be placed at certain types of crossings after due deliberation with respect to volume of railroad traffic, volume of highway traffic, population of surrounding area, character of crossing and other factors which must be considered to make such an evaluation.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

The Defendant Public Service Commission has a duty to protect the public by requiring proper and adequate safety devices at railroad grade crossings. This duty is created by statute. 54-4-14, U.C.A., 1953 provides as follows:

Safety Appliances-Regulation. - The Commission shall have power, by general or special orders, rules or regulations, or otherwise, to require every public utility to construct, maintain and operate its line, plant, system, equipment, apparatus, *tracks* and premises in such manner as to promote and *safeguard* the health and safety of its employees, passengers, customers and the *public* and to this end to prescribe, among other things, the *installation*, use, maintenance and operation of appropriate *safety* or other devices or appliances, including interlocking and other protective devices at *grade crossings* or

junctions ,and block or other system of signaling, and to establish uniform or other standards of construction and equipment, and to require the performance of any other acts which the health or safety of its employees, passengers, customers or the public demand.

The provisions of 54-4-15 (2), U.C.A., 1953 go even further to provide that the Commission shall have the *exclusive power* to provide for safety measures at grade crossings. That Section reads as follows:

(2) "The Commission shall have the *exclusive power* to determine and prescribe the manner, including the particular point of crossing and the terms of installation, operation, maintenance, use and *protection* of each crossing of a public road or highway by a railroad . . . and of a street by a railroad or vice versa, and to alter or abolish any such crossing, to restrict the use of such crossing to certain types of traffic in the interest of public safety . . . ."

Plaintiff alleged that Defendant had breached its duty and was negligent in the following particulars:

(a) Negligently failing to provide for installation of adequate protective devices.

(b) Negligently failing to establish a program to discover dilapidated signs which did not meet Defendant's own standards and to provide for the repair or replacement of such signs.

(c) That Defendant had previously been informed by the Utah Safety Council by letter of May 15, 1967 that the Utah Insurance Agents Association had

made a survey of railroad crossing signs in the Salt Lake metropolitan area and had found many of them to be unsafe with inadequate protective devices and that said letter of May 15, 1967 called particular attention to the problem of dilapidated crossbucks such as the one in existence at the grade crossing involved in this accident and that notwithstanding this notice, Defendant negligently failed to formulate or implement adequate procedures to require the replacement or repair of such dilapidated "crossbucks" and particularly the one in question.

(d) That Defendant negligently failed to formulate, prescribe and issue orders and standards relating to the maintenance of railroad grade crossings with respect to keeping the same clear of weeds, brush, bushes, trees and other obstructions.

(e) That Defendant negligently failed to require installation or provide for the installation of advanced railroad warning signs to give warning of the presence of a railroad grade crossing.

Plaintiff's Affidavit in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment stated that Plaintiff would prove that Defendant was negligent as alleged.

All Defendant has shown is that it adopted Bulletin No. 6 of the Association of American Railroads which does nothing more than describe the physical characteristics of certain types of safety devices.

Defendant has not even filed an Answer in this case. Neither party has had an opportunity to engage in discovery. A Motion for Summary Judgment was

most certainly premature and at this stage of the proceedings *there is not one single shred of evidence in the record to refute Plaintiff's allegations of Defendant's negligence*, not even an Answer from Defendant. 6 *Moore's Federal Practice* 2152, §56.11[2] provides:

If the Motion is made by the Defendants solely on the basis of the Complaint, the Motion is functionally equivalent to a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b) (6); the Complaint should be liberally construed in favor of the Complainant; the facts alleged in the Complaint must be taken as true; and the Motion for Summary Judgment must be denied if a claim has been pleaded. Citing *Smoot v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.* (CA. 5th, 1962) 299 Fed. 2d 525, 5 FR Serv 2d 56c. 31, Case 1 and *Gunn v. Association of Casualty & Surety Executives* (ED, Tenn. 1951) 16 FR Serv 56c.41, Case 1.

In *Brandt vs. Springville Banking Company*, 10 Utah 2d 350, 353 Pac. 2d 460, this Court said:

We are cognizant of the desirability of permitting litigants to fully present their case to the Court and that a Summary Judgment prevents this. For that reason Courts are, and should be, reluctant to invoke this remedy. Citing *Holland vs. Columbia Iron Mining Co.*, 4 Utah 2d 303, 293 Pac. 2d 700.

The reasons for the Court's reluctance to grant Summary Judgments are clearly set forth in *Reliable Furniture Co. vs. Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Underwriters Inc.*, 16 Utah 2d 211, 398 Pac 2d 685, where this Court said:

It is appropriate to reiterate that the dismissal of an action at pretrial, which peremptorily turns a party out of Court, is a drastic action which should be used sparingly and with great caution \* \* \* the summary disposal of a case serves a salutary purpose in avoiding the time, trouble and expense of a trial when it is justified. But unless it is *clearly* so, there are other evils to be guarded against. A party with a legitimate cause, but who is unable to afford an appeal, may be turned away without his day in Court; or, when an appeal is taken, if a reversal results and a trial is ordered, the time, trouble and expense is increased rather than diminished. It is to avoid these evils and to *safeguard the right of access to the Courts* for the enforcement of rights and a remedy of wrongs by a trial, and by a jury if desired, that it is of such importance that the Court should take care to see that the party adversely affected has a fair opportunity to present his contentions against precipitate action which will deprive him of that privilege. His contentions as to the facts should be considered in the light most favorable to him, and only if it *clearly* appears that he could not establish a right to recovery under the law should such action be taken; and *any doubts* which exist should be resolved in favor of affording him the privilege of a trial.

The action in this case was even more "drastic" when we consider that the Motion was granted before any responsive pleadings were filed and before the parties could engage in discovery.

A Summary Judgment must be supported by evidence, admission and inference which, when viewed in the light most favorable to the loser, show that there is

no genuine issue as to any material fact and such showing must preclude all reasonable possibility that the loser could have given a trial to produce evidence which would sustain a judgment in his favor, *Thompson vs. Ford Motor Co.*, 16 Utah 2d 30, 395 Pac. 2d 62; *Bullcock vs. Desert Dodge Truck Center Inc.*, 11 Utah 2d 1, 354 Pac. 2d 559; *Frederick May & Company, Inc. vs. Dunn*, 13 Utah 2d 40, 368 Pac. 2d 266. With respect to Summary Judgments in this particular type of action *6 Moore's Federal Practice* 2285, §56.15[1.-0] provides that Summary Judgment will normally *not* be warranted in an action based on negligence.

For the purpose of considering the Motion for Summary Judgment the averments of Plaintiff's Complaint must be taken as true and there is simply nothing whatsoever in the record to controvert such allegations let alone challenge such averments to the point of being able to conclude, when viewing the situation in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. This follows *a fortiori* when the averments of the Complaint have not even been *challenged*.

## CONCLUSION

The Summary Judgment should be vacated and the cause remanded to the lower Court for discovery proceedings and trial.