Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1969

Robert L. Velasquez, By and Through His Guardian Ad Litem, Corinne F. Muniz v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, A Utah Corporation; Heinz Reinhold and State of Utah, Public Commission: Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff was injured when the vehicle in which he was asleep and riding as a passenger was struck by a Union Pacific Railroad Company train at a grade crossing in a residential area in Sandy, Utah on March 9, 1968.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Summary Judgment was entered September 19, 1969 in favor of Defendant-Respondent.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks an affirmance of the District Court's order of Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 1968 at approximately 11:50 p.m., plaintiff was a passenger and asleep in a pickup truck driven by Manuel Ortega, which pickup truck was proceeding easterly on 400 North Street in Sandy, Utah, when a collision occurred between said pickup truck and one of Union Pacific Railroad Company's locomotives, which was traveling in a southerly direction, at the grade crossing at 400 North near 100 East Street, in Sandy City, Utah, and that as a result of said collision, plaintiff sustained some injuries.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

STATE OF UTAH, PUBLIC SERVICE COM-MISSION, WAS AT ALL TIMES ACTING IN ITS CAPACITY AS A GOVERNMENTAL EN-TITY OF THE STATE OF UTAH, AND, AS SUCH, IS IMMUNE FROM THIS SUIT.

The Public Service Commission comes within the meaning of "State" as defined in U. C. A. 63-30-2(1) (1953), Utah Governmental Immunity Act, and the word "state" is within the term "governmental entity" as defined in 63-30-2(3). Therefore, the Public Service Commission is included within the term "governmental entity" as defined

in 63-30-2(3) and used in 63-30-3 and 63-30-10. U. C. A. 63-30-3 states:

"Except as may be otherwise provided in this act, ail governmental entities shall be immune from suit, for any injury which may result from the activities of said entities wherein said entity is engaged in the exercise and discharge of a governmental function." (Emphasis added.)

In order for appellant to maintain an action against respondent, they must show a specific waiver of this immunity. It is apparent from the statute there is no specific waiver available. U. C. A. 63-30-10 provides:

"Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment except if the injury: (1) arises out of the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused."

This statute has come before this court in the case of Sheffield v. Turner, 21 Utah 2d 314, 445 P. 2d 367, (1968). This court said that:

"The anciently established and almost universally recognized general rule which this court has consistently announced and adhered to is that the government, its agencies and officials performing governmental functions are protected by sovereign immunity."

The Court compared this general rule with the Governmental Immunity Act, 63-30-10 U. C. A. (1953), dealing with waiver of immunity. This Court pointed out that, even

though the act provides for a waiver of immunity, it still preserves immunity in certain areas. The *Sheffield* case dealt specifically with the exception of injuries arising out of incarcerations, 63-30-10(3) U. C. A. 1953. In the case at bar, we are concerned with the exception in 63-30-10(1) mentioned above.

The principle enunciated by the court in the *Sheffield* case applied with equal force to both subsections, and the Public Service Commission has governmental immunity as provided for in U. C. A. 63-30-10(3) and as such is immune from suit in this action.

Section 54-4-14 U. C. A. 1953 provides:

"The commission shall have power by general or special orders, rules or regulations. or otherwise. to require every public utility to construct, maintain and operate its line, plant, system, equipment, apparatus, tracks and premises in such manner as to promote and safeguard the health and safety of its employees, passengers, customers, and the public. and to this end to prescribe among other things, the installation, use, maintenance and operation of appropriate safety or other devices or appliances, including interlocking or other protective devices at grade crossings or junctions, and block or other system of signaling, and to establish uniform or other standards of construction and equipment, and to require the performance of any other acts which the health or safety of its employees, passengers, customers or the public may demand."

Any duty which may have been imposed upon the Public Service Commission is by the wording of this statute a matter of discretion, there being no words of mandate to the Commission to prescribe any particular order, rule or regulation. Even if such duty were to be imposed upon the commission, that duty has been fulfilled. The commission promulgated rules and regulations for the installation and inspection of railroad highway grade crossing signal devices. These rules are found in General Order No. 61 and Supplemental Order No. 1 dating back to June 1951, which order of the Public Service Commission was attached to the respondent's motion for summary judgment (R. 90-100).

This view of the discretionary nature, powers and duties of the Public Service Commission finds support in the language of cases which define discretionary act as decisions made at planning levels as distinguished from decisions made at operational levels. Dalehite v. United States, 346 U. S. 15, 42 (1953). It seems evident that the Public Service Commission, by passing a rule or regulation, and exercising its discretion therein, at a planning level, does not become liable for the act of every private person or corporation who, for some reason, fails to comply with or implement the regulation at the operational level.

In the above case, the Supreme Court of the United States, referring to the Federal Tort Claims Act whose language is very similar to that of the Utah act, discusses the theory and operation of the waiver of governmental immunity. The court states:

"It is not intended that the constitutionality of legislation, the legality of regulations or the propriety of the discretionary administrative act should be tested through the medium of a damage suit for tort."

It is noted that the Utah act, in Section 63-30-10(1), contains a non-waiver of immunity where injury "arises out of the exercise of performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused."

It is clear that, even if appellant were able to show all facts set forth in the complaint and establish that the Public Service Commission had the responsibility to enforce the rules and regulations and failed to act, that the commission would still be immune from this suit.

Plaintiff appears to have assumed that the Governmental Immunity Act, which waives governmental immunity in certain instances, applies and that the Motion for Summary Judgment, based upon other facts, is premature. It is, however, proper under Rule 56 to grant summary judgment based upon the facts as stated in plaintiff's complaint without need for allowing discovery and without the need for the respondent to plead by way of answer setting forth any defenses or facts, summary judgment becomes tantamount to a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, except that where affidavits or other evidentiary matters accompanied the motion, it was properly brought as a motion for summary judgment. The court below was correct in granting summary judgment for the reason that the Public Service Commission was at all times acting in

its capacity as a governmental entity of the State of Utah and was immune from suit, such immunity having not been waived. It is evident from plaintiff's complaint and the amendment to the second cause of action therein that any and all acts of negligence claimed against the Public Service Commission of the State of Utah would clearly arise out of the performance of, omission of, or exercise of a discretionary function; namely, the promulgation of rules and regulations and the enforcement thereof. The plaintiff has failed to plead or set forth any facts which would allow suit against the Public Service Commission of Utah.

Respondent takes no issue with cases cited by plaintiff indicating summary judgment should be granted on the basis of the complaint alone, only under a liberal construction of the facts pleaded and assuming all such facts to be true a claim has been stated. We submit that plaintiff in this case given that liberal construction, and after once amending the complaint, sets forth no such facts.

CONCLUSION

The Public Service Commission is a governmental entity protected with governmental immunity pursuant to 63-30-10(1) U. C. A. (1953). It has complied with and fulfilled the duties imposed upon it pursuant to 54-4-14 U. C. A. (1953). There are no facts in dispute which would,

if resolved in favor of appellant, allow this suit to be maintained. Therefore, the summary judgment rendered by the District Court should be affirmed.